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In the first post-war years the oldest hospital of Kharkiv which until 1951 was subjected to regional health department functioned both as urban and regional hospital. Such congestion was the consequence of the destruction of the hospital network due to the Nazi occupation. Having only 465 beds, the clinic hospitalized in 1947 more than 700 patients despite the lack of furniture and linen [1, p. 5]. In such difficult situation the administration and staff of the hospital managed to avoid an outbreak of infections inside the facility and implemented annual plan of bed-days by 106 % despite the closing of the certain wards for repairs. But the last favorable fact is explained by the massive influx of patients suffering from the alimentary dystrophy and typhus. Those diseases were consequences of the famine which happened in 1946-47. And in that case the good plan index was achieved through the sealing and placement of patients in corridors, namely – through the deterioration of the quality of the medical care. 
During the war the hospital was destroyed as many buildings of the city. The aviation bomb partly destroyed the centenary building of the therapeutic ward. But a significant part of the recovery period the hospital could not start renovation due to its importance for townspeople. For example the septic ward for infectious diseased mothers served the entire city. Even with the beginning of repairs and reduction of therapeutic and surgical wards, the hospital including the staff of mentioned departments continued to operate. It should be pointed out that under conditions of constant flow of patients which didn’t stop even after filling of all hospital’s beds newcomers were provided with the first aid in the delousing (thus in 1947 got help 1995 patients out of 10055 people who were hospitalized to the 1st Lenin Hospital) [1, p. 22]. At night the delousing turned into a flophouse for declassed and homeless people delivered by the militia. Such situation ceased with the opening of the quarantine house in 1947. 
The material and food provision of the hospital at that time was extremely poor. In winter of 1943-1944 the hospital couldn’t deliver the coal for heating owing to the shortage of transport and gasoline. As a result both the stuff and patients of the hospital which also did not have enough blankets, robes, mattresses, lingerie suffered from the cold. 
The hospital lacked the most needed medicines. The penicillin which was necessary for the treatment of infectious diseases was so little that doctors couldn’t use it even to cure seriously ill patients. Despite such deficiency inside the hospital acted the order which prohibited giving a prescription to a paid pharmacy without a resolution of a chief physician. Nevertheless some doctors violated such order in situations of the complete lack of medicines at the hospital pharmacy [1, p. 17]. 
The daily rate of the rubbing alcohol was 920 grams for 9 independent hospital wards, 2 operating-rooms and delivery room. In this situation such simple treatments as cupping therapy was carried out using a kerosene or gasoline what created a smoke in wards as at the primitive forge. 50 % of medical instruments became unsuitable for use and quality of the rest was extremely low. 
There were shortages of electricity and heating supply. The stuff worked in coats. The presence of bedbugs was the inalienable feature of the postnatal ward. 

The famine of 1946-1947 had the direct impact on the activities of the hospital. This is evidenced by the high mortality at the wards where afflicted from the starvation were hospitalized. At the therapy department rate of mortality from the starvation was 9 % out of the general amount of 2579 patients, 40 % of all hospitalized to the neurological department suffered from alimentary dystrophy or inflectional diseases as a consequence of the famine. The mortality among 730 patients of this ward was 17 % [1, p. 2, 4]. 
Considering the general state of the famine of 1946-47 we can note the relatively adequate level of food security (at least patients who came from countryside in a state of complex diseases had a chance to survive). The average caloric of the hospital menu was: the general diet – 2400 calories, for mothers – 2600 calories, enhanced diet – 2700 calories [1, p. 12]. At the same time such a phenomenon as the replace of white bread on black during public procurement was common. Dairy products were intended only for mothers. For comparison the daily rate of food of German soldiers during the war was 3600 kcal while the caloric intake which led to the death of thousands of Soviet prisoners of war was 894 calories. At the same time the caloric intake of the German population in 1945-46 decreased to 1412 kcal [2]. 
The staff and patients could survive thanks to the presence of their own subsistence farming (authorities allocated plots of land for hospitals) and individual smallholding. The harvest obtained from hospital’s holdings ensured work of the hospital canteen. 
In 1948 for the overhaul had been allocated 1,9 millions of rubles thanks to which the old building of the neurological-therapeutic ward was demolished and the new one was built [1, p. 4]. The personnel of the hospital repaired the roofs of wards, systems of heating, water supply, sewerage, equipment, made plaster works and glazing of windows. At the same time the destruction led to replacement of old unequipped buildings with new specially designed for needs of the hospital. Physiological room at the surgical department and the second X-ray room, new casualty and urology departments were opened, a dressing room was organized, gynecology department was refitted which became the best in Kharkiv. Since 1947 the purchase of furniture, lingerie and equipment began. The hospital acquired the traction equipment, water distilling apparatus, histology laboratory was equipped and cancer beds were allocated under a supervision of medical specialists. Chemical, biochemical and bacteriological laboratories were reopened. However, there was no photo laboratory which led to difficulties with the display of radiographic images. 
Moreover, thanks to work of the prominent scientists at the hospital the new methods of treatment were introduced into the clinical practice. The head of surgical department I. S. Kogan invented and improved the Ombredan’s mask using of which reduced the number of postoperative complications. The cerebrospinal and the number of others anesthetics were introduced. 
The feature of that time was the patronage of hospitals over villages which assumed medical aid as well as participation in agricultural operations. 

Interesting how in those conditions the administration of the hospital distinguished image of the old Alexander Hospital (pre-revolutionary name of the 1st hospital) from the new Soviet one. Criterions of the distinction were achievements of the staff in improving the quality of care. In the annual report of the hospital for 1947 we can read about the state of the hospital before the revolution of 1917: “Presence of bedbugs, clutter, slovenliness and self-isolation of the staff, mainly doctoral staff of all issues related to the culture of a department, “culture of a bed”… was a familiar phenomenon” [1, p. 13]. About the high level of medical care in the post-war period testifies the awarding of 26 doctors, 30 medium and 25 assistive medical workers by orders and medals of the Soviet government [1, p. 208]. 
Under the new conditions physicians were required to refer to the work as a personal matter what meant the participation in repair, as well as the ideological and political training. The last one included the alternate organization of weekly political classes by each doctor. Among topics which were considered by the staff at such meetings were international relationship ("Marshall Plan", "Truman Doctrine"), implementation of the fourth five-year plan, campaign against cosmopolitanism etc. In addition, meetings, conversations with patients and theoretical conferences were held which primarily dealt with biography and works of Stalin, the history of the revolution and quite a small part of attention paid to specialized medical topics. Political education covered not only doctors but all medium and assistive personnel of the hospital for whom 8 clubs for the study of the history of the Communist party and political school for nurses were created. 107 people were engaged into those circles in 1952. It is clear that in this way nurses and, above all, doctors (main speakers and organizers of discussions) were diverted from their direct duties, but that was impossible to ignore against the background of the new wave of repressions aimed also against medical personnel (“The Doctors' plot”). 
The single indulgence towards physicians was that in contrast to other staff they had the ability of self-studying of Marxism-Leninism though with the help of attached consultants. 

The involvement of the staff into the Communist party also was widespread. Out of the 205 medical workers (general number of the staff of the hospital) 40 (1/5) were members of the Communist party. Among 26 physicians there were 9 (1/3) communists [5, p. 404-405].  
Certain sum of the first years of the recovery period was a state of the hospital at the moment of its transition to the city’s jurisdiction in 1951. That time the hospital had 8 wards with 500 beds, clinical laboratory, pathologoanatomic ward, pharmacy, laundry, joiner's and fitting shops, stockroom for the keeping personnel things, disinfection plant, garage with two lorries and two horses. The total cost of the hospital’s property was valued at 7, 3 millions of rubles [3, p. 1]. But despite the results which had already been achieved in order to reconstruct the material and technical basis of the 1st hospital, under the jurisdiction of the city’s health care department the great source of expenditures was also transferred with the hospital. The hospital needed annual overhauls including the replacement of sewerage, painting of floors, windows, ceilings, whitewashing, complete covering of roofs, replacement of elevator, signaling, setting of phone, purchase of steam-boilers for heating, equipping of the shower-room and vegetable store. 
Thus activity of the 1st Lenin Hospital in the early postwar years reflected common features of the recovery period: extremely difficult conditions of work united with the aspiration to sooner return to the normal life. Despite the constant need to repair facilities, the hospital not only continued to deliver health care to residents of town and countryside but thanks to the adequate funding it was able to introduce new researches, update tangible assets and build new wards. 
Of course, can not be left unattended the contribution of the medical staff into the reconstruction of the hospital which was carried out mainly by the assistive and middle staff, relationship between doctors and patients, attitude of the medical staff to the Stalin’s regime and impact of the new round of repressions on the physicians namely in Kharkiv. These and other questions require more deep investigation with using of a special methodology. It should be understood that proposed overview is just the sketch of some facts of hospital’s life which should be filled with stories of certain people to be recognized as a real living history. The stated aim will be put into the basis of future outlines of post-war history of Kharkiv’s health care. 
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